#### South Australia

# Education and Early Childhood Services (Registration and Standards) (Amendment of Education and Care Services National Law Text) Regulations 2024

under the Education and Early Childhood Services (Registration and Standards) Act 2011

#### **Contents**

#### Part 1—Preliminary

- 1 Short title
- 2 Commencement
- 3 Interpretation
- 4 Amendment of Education and Care Services National Law text

#### Part 2—Amendment of Education and Care Services National Law text

- 5 Amendment of section 5—Definitions
- 6 Amendment of section 43—Application for service approval
- 7 Amendment of section 47—Determination of application
- 8 Amendment of section 49—Grounds for refusal
- 9 Insertion of section 49A
  - 49A Additional ground for refusal in certain participating jurisdictions—mandatory approval in principle
- 10 Insertion of Part 4

### Part 4—Approval in principle for education and care service premises located in certain types of buildings

#### Division 1—Application of this Part

105 Application of Part to certain participating jurisdictions only

#### Division 2—Application for approval in principle

- Application for approval in principle
- Form and timing of application
- Regulatory Authority may seek further information
- Determination of application for an approval in principle
- Grant or refusal of approval in principle
- Regulatory Authority must refuse to grant approval in principle unless satisfied of certain matters
- Notice of decision on application for approval in principle
- 113 Copy of approval in principle to be provided

#### Division 3—Duties of approval in principle holder

Duty to notify Regulatory Authority of any material change

#### Division 4—Amendment and transfer of approval in principle

- Amendment of approval in principle on application
- Amendment of approval in principle by Regulatory Authority
- 117 Copy of amended approval in principle to be provided
- 118 Transfer of approval in principle
- 119 Transfer of approval in principle by Regulatory Authority

#### Division 5—Cancellation of approval in principle

- 120 Regulatory Authority may cancel approval in principle
- 121 Show cause notice before cancellation
- 122 Decision in relation to cancellation

#### Division 6—Expiry of approval in principle

- Expiry of approval in principle
- 124 Approval in principle may be extended
- Expired approval in principle may be reinstated
- Amendment of section 190—Reviewable decision—internal review
- 12 Insertion of Part 15 Division 8

Division 8—Transitional provisions—Early Childhood Legislation Amendment (Premises Approval in Principle) Act 2023

340 Transitional provision—approvals in principle—applications for service approval

#### Part 1—Preliminary

#### 1—Short title

These regulations may be cited as the *Education and Early Childhood Services* (Registration and Standards) (Amendment of Education and Care Services National Law Text) Regulations 2024.

#### **2**—Commencement

These regulations will be taken to have come into operation on the day on which Part 2 of the *Early Childhood Legislation Amendment (Premises Approval in Principle)*Act 2023 of Victoria came into operation.

#### 3—Interpretation

In these regulations—

Act means the Education and Early Childhood Services (Registration and Standards) Act 2011.

#### 4—Amendment of Education and Care Services National Law text

- (1) Pursuant to section 11 of the Act, the Education and Care Services National Law text is amended as set out in Part 2 of these regulations.
- (2) In these regulations, a provision referring to the amendment of a specified provision amends the provision of the Education and Care Services National Law text so specified.

### Part 2—Amendment of Education and Care Services National Law text

#### 5—Amendment of section 5—Definitions

(1) Section 5(1)—before the definition of *approved education and care service* insert:

*approval in principle* means an approval in principle granted under section 110 for a proposed education and care service premises;

*approval in principle criteria* means, of the national regulations that regulate the education and care service premises, those which are prescribed to be the approval in principle criteria;

#### approval in principle holder means—

- (a) a person granted an approval in principle under section 110; or
- (b) if the approval in principle is transferred to another person under section 118 or 119, that person;
- (2) Section 5(1)—after the definition of *infringement law* insert:

*mandatory approval in principle jurisdiction* means a Part 4 jurisdiction in which section 49A of this Law applies;

Note-

See section 49A.

(3) Section 5(1)—after the definition of *parent* insert:

#### Part 4 building means—

- (a) a building that has 3 or more storeys (including the ground level and each level of a split level); or
- (b) a building of a prescribed class;

**Part 4 building law**, in relation to a participating jurisdiction, means a law declared by or under a law of that jurisdiction to be a Part 4 building law;

**Part 4 jurisdiction** means a participating jurisdiction in which Part 4 of this Law applies;

Note-

See section 105.

**Part 4 planning law**, in relation to a participating jurisdiction, means a law declared by or under a law of that jurisdiction to be a Part 4 planning law;

#### 6—Amendment of section 43—Application for service approval

Section 43—at the foot of its present contents insert:

Note-

Mandatory approval in principle jurisdictions require an approved provider to hold an approval in principle under Part 4 for the education and care service premises as a precondition of service approval. See section 49A.

#### 7—Amendment of section 47—Determination of application

Section 47(1)—after paragraph (b) insert:

(ba) any approval in principle held by the approved provider for the education and care service premises, and whether the premises were constructed, altered or repaired in accordance with the plans, drawings or specifications attached to, or described in, the approval in principle; and

#### Note-

The approval in principle process in Part 4 only applies to certain premises in certain participating jurisdictions. See section 105.

#### 8—Amendment of section 49—Grounds for refusal

Section 49—after subsection (2) insert:

- (3) The Regulatory Authority must not refuse to grant a service approval on the ground that the education and care service premises do not meet the approval in principle criteria if—
  - (a) the approved provider is an approval in principle holder for the premises; and
  - (b) the premises were constructed, altered or repaired in accordance with the plans, drawings or specifications attached to, or described in, the approval in principle.

#### Note-

The approval in principle process in Part 4 only applies to certain premises in certain participating jurisdictions. See section 105.

(4) Subsection (3) does not prevent the Regulatory Authority from refusing to grant a service approval on any other ground, including a ground set out in subsection (1)(a) or section 47(1)(b).

#### 9—Insertion of section 49A

After section 49 insert:

### 49A—Additional ground for refusal in certain participating jurisdictions—mandatory approval in principle

- (1) This section applies to, and in relation to, a Part 4 jurisdiction if a law of the Part 4 jurisdiction, or an instrument made under that law, specifically declares that section 49A of this Law applies.
- (2) Without limiting section 49(1), the Regulatory Authority must refuse to grant a service approval if—
  - (a) the education and care service premises for the service (other than a family day care service) are located in a Part 4 building; and
  - (b) under a Part 4 planning law or Part 4 building law (or both) of the Part 4 jurisdiction, a permit or approval is or was required for the construction, alteration or repair of the premises or the development of the land; and
  - (c) either—
    - (i) the approved provider is not the approval in principle holder for the premises; or

- (ii) the premises are not constructed, altered or repaired in accordance with the plans, drawings or specifications attached to, or described in, the approval in principle.
- (3) Despite subsection (2), the Regulatory Authority may grant a service approval for an education and care service—
  - (a) if satisfied that—
    - (i) the service approval is required for the emergency relocation of an education and care service; and
    - (ii) the education and care service premises is the most suitable available premises for the education and care service; or
  - (b) in any other prescribed circumstances.
- (4) Subsection (2) does not apply if—
  - (a) a service approval was previously granted for an education and care service at the premises; and
  - (b) since the cancellation or surrender of that service approval, there has been no further construction, alteration or repair of the premises requiring a permit or approval under a Part 4 planning law or Part 4 building law (or both) of the Part 4 jurisdiction.

#### 10—Insertion of Part 4

After Part 3 insert:

## Part 4—Approval in principle for education and care service premises located in certain types of buildings

#### **Division 1—Application of this Part**

### 105—Application of Part to certain participating jurisdictions only

This Part applies to, and in relation to, a participating jurisdiction if a law of the participating jurisdiction, or an instrument made under that law, specifically declares that Part 4 of this Law applies.

#### Division 2—Application for approval in principle

#### 106—Application for approval in principle

(1) A person may apply to the Regulatory Authority for the approval in principle of proposed education and care service premises.

- (2) An application may be made if—
  - (a) the premises are for an education and care service (other than a family day care service); and
  - (b) the premises are proposed to be located in a new or existing Part 4 building; and
  - (c) under a Part 4 planning law or Part 4 building law (or both) of the Part 4 jurisdiction, a permit or approval is required for the construction, alteration or repair of the proposed education and care service premises or the development of the land.

#### 107—Form and timing of application

- (1) An application for an approval in principle must—
  - (a) be made to the Regulatory Authority of the Part 4 jurisdiction in which the building is to be located or is located; and
  - (b) be in writing; and
  - (c) include any plan, drawing or specification as to the construction, alteration or repair of the proposed premises and building in which the premises are or will be located; and
  - (d) include the prescribed information; and
  - (e) include payment of the prescribed fee.
- (2) An application for an approval in principle must be made to the Regulatory Authority within the period declared by or under a law of the Part 4 jurisdiction to be the application period.

#### 108—Regulatory Authority may seek further information

- (1) The Regulatory Authority may ask an applicant for an approval in principle to provide any further information that is reasonably required for the purpose of assessing the application.
- (2) If the Regulatory Authority asks the applicant for further information under this section, the period from the making of the request until the provision of the further information is not included in the period referred to in section 110 for the Regulatory Authority to make a decision on the application.

#### 109—Determination of application for an approval in principle

In determining an application for an approval in principle, the Regulatory Authority must have regard to—

(a) the suitability of the proposed education and care service premises and the site and location of those premises for the operation of an education and care service; and

- (b) whether the proposed education and care service premises would meet the approval in principle criteria once constructed, altered or repaired; and
- (c) whether the proposed education and care service premises will have direct egress to an assembly area to allow the safe evacuation of all children; and
- (d) any other matter the Regulatory Authority considers relevant; and
- (e) any other prescribed matters.

#### 110—Grant or refusal of approval in principle

- (1) On receiving an application under section 106, the Regulatory Authority may—
  - (a) subject to section 111, grant an approval in principle; or
  - (b) refuse to grant an approval in principle.
- (2) Subject to subsection (3), the Regulatory Authority must make a decision on the application within 60 days after the Regulatory Authority receives the application.

#### Note-

If further information is requested under section 108(1), the period between the making of the request and the provision of the information is not included in the 60 day period.

- (3) The period referred to in subsection (2) may be extended with the agreement of the applicant.
- (4) The Regulatory Authority is taken to have refused to grant an approval in principle if the Regulatory Authority has not made a decision under subsection (1)—
  - (a) within the relevant time required under subsection (2); or
  - (b) within the period extended under subsection (3)—as the case requires.

### 111—Regulatory Authority must refuse to grant approval in principle unless satisfied of certain matters

The Regulatory Authority must refuse to grant an approval in principle unless satisfied that—

- (a) the proposed education and care service premises (once constructed, altered or repaired) and the site and location of those premises—
  - (i) will be suitable for the operation of an education and care service; and
  - (ii) will meet the approval in principle criteria; and

(b) the proposed education and care service premises will have direct egress to an assembly area to allow the safe evacuation of all children.

#### 112—Notice of decision on application for approval in principle

The Regulatory Authority must give written notice to the applicant of a decision under section 110 and the reasons for the decision within 7 days after the decision is made.

#### 113—Copy of approval in principle to be provided

- (1) If the Regulatory Authority grants an approval in principle, the Regulatory Authority must give a copy of the approval in principle to the applicant stating—
  - (a) the name of the approval in principle holder; and
  - (b) the site and location of the building or proposed building; and
  - (c) the location of the proposed education and care service premises within the building or proposed building; and
  - (d) the date on which the approval in principle was granted; and
  - (e) the date on which the approval in principle expires; and Note—

An approval in principle expires 3 years from the day it is granted. See section 123.

- (f) any other prescribed matters.
- (2) The copy of the approval in principle must—
  - (a) attach a copy of any plan, drawing or specification that is the basis of the approval in principle of the premises; or
  - (b) sufficiently describe any such plan, drawing or specification.

#### Division 3—Duties of approval in principle holder

### 114—Duty to notify Regulatory Authority of any material change

The approval in principle holder must notify the Regulatory Authority of any material change to—

- (a) any plan, drawing or specification attached to, or described in, the approval in principle in accordance with section 113(2); or
- (b) the environment surrounding the proposed education and care service premises that may affect the suitability of the premises for the operation of an education and care service.

#### Example—

A neighbouring building is constructed which impacts adequate natural light in the indoor spaces of the proposed premises.

### Division 4—Amendment and transfer of approval in principle

#### 115—Amendment of approval in principle on application

- (1) The approval in principle holder may apply to the Regulatory Authority for an amendment of an approval in principle.
- (2) The application must—
  - (a) be in writing; and
  - (b) include the prescribed information; and
  - (c) include payment of the prescribed fee.
- (3) The Regulatory Authority may ask the applicant to provide further information that is reasonably required for the purpose of assessing the application.
- (4) If the Regulatory Authority asks the applicant for further information under this section, the period from the making of the request until the provision of the further information is not included in the period referred to in subsection (5).
- (5) The Regulatory Authority must make a decision on the application within 60 days after the Regulatory Authority receives the application.
- (6) The Regulatory Authority must decide the application by—
  - (a) amending the approval in principle in the way applied for; or
  - (b) with the applicant's written agreement, amending the approval in principle in another way; or
  - (c) refusing to amend the approval in principle.
- (7) An amendment cannot change the location of the proposed education and care service premises.
- (8) The Regulatory Authority must give written notice of its decision to the approval in principle holder within 7 days after the decision is made.

### 116—Amendment of approval in principle by Regulatory Authority

- (1) The Regulatory Authority may amend an approval in principle at any time without an application.
- (2) The Regulatory Authority must give written notice of the amendment to the approval in principle holder and the reasons for the decision within 7 days after the decision is made.

- (3) An amendment under this section has effect—
  - (a) 14 days after the Regulatory Authority gives notice of the amendment under subsection (2); or
  - (b) if another period is specified by the Regulatory Authority, at the end of that period.

#### 117—Copy of amended approval in principle to be provided

If the Regulatory Authority amends an approval in principle under section 115 or 116, the Regulatory Authority must give an amended copy of the approval in principle to the approval in principle holder.

#### 118—Transfer of approval in principle

- (1) The approval in principle holder (*transferring approval in principle holder*) may transfer the approval in principle to another person (*receiving approval in principle holder*).
- (2) A transfer takes effect on the day the Regulatory Authority receives a notice of transfer in accordance with subsection (3).
- (3) A notice of transfer must—
  - (a) be in writing; and
  - (b) be signed by both the transferring approval in principle holder and the receiving approval in principle holder; and
  - (c) include the prescribed information; and
  - (d) include payment of the prescribed fee.
- (4) As soon as practicable after receiving a notice of transfer, the Regulatory Authority must—
  - (a) amend the approval in principle to specify the name of the receiving approval in principle holder; and
  - (b) provide an amended copy of the approval in principle to the receiving approval in principle holder.

#### 119—Transfer of approval in principle by Regulatory Authority

- (1) The Regulatory Authority may transfer an approval in principle to another person if the Regulatory Authority becomes aware that the approval in principle holder has died or does not exist.
- (2) On transferring an approval in principle, the Regulatory Authority must—
  - (a) amend the approval in principle to specify the name of the receiving approval in principle holder; and
  - (b) provide an amended copy of the approval in principle to the receiving approval in principle holder.

#### Division 5—Cancellation of approval in principle

#### 120—Regulatory Authority may cancel approval in principle

The Regulatory Authority may cancel an approval in principle if the Regulatory Authority is satisfied—

- (a) that the proposed education and care service premises to which the approval relates, or the site or location of those premises, is no longer suitable for the operation of an education and care service; or
- (b) the proposed education and care service premises will not be constructed, altered or repaired in accordance with the plans, drawings or specifications attached to, or described in, the approval in principle.

#### 121—Show cause notice before cancellation

If the Regulatory Authority is considering the cancellation of an approval in principle under section 120, the Regulatory Authority must first give the approval in principle holder a show cause notice stating—

- (a) that the Regulatory Authority intends to cancel the approval in principle; and
- (b) the reasons for the proposed cancellation; and
- (c) that within 30 days after the notice is given, the holder may give the Regulatory Authority a written response to the proposed cancellation.

#### 122—Decision in relation to cancellation

- (1) After considering any written response from the approval in principle holder received within the time allowed by section 121(c), the Regulatory Authority must—
  - (a) cancel the approval in principle; or
  - (b) decide not to cancel the approval in principle.
- (2) The Regulatory Authority must give the approval in principle holder written notice of the decision and the reasons for the decision within 7 days after the decision is made.
- (3) The decision to cancel the approval in principle takes effect—
  - (a) 14 days after the Regulatory Authority gives notice of the decision; or
  - (b) if another period is specified by the Regulatory Authority, at the end of that period.
- (4) The notice of a decision to cancel must set out the date on which the cancellation takes effect.

#### Division 6—Expiry of approval in principle

#### 123—Expiry of approval in principle

- (1) An approval in principle expires—
  - (a) on the third anniversary of the day on which the approval in principle was granted; or
  - (b) if the approval in principle is extended under section 124, on the day determined by the Regulatory Authority in accordance with that section.
- (2) Despite subsection (1), if an application for extension is made under section 124 before the expiry of the approval in principle, the approval in principle does not expire before the application for extension is determined by the Regulatory Authority.
- (3) Despite subsection (1), if an application for service approval is made before the expiry of the approval in principle, the approval in principle does not expire before the application for service approval is determined by the Regulatory Authority.

#### 124—Approval in principle may be extended

- (1) Any time before an approval in principle expires, the Regulatory Authority may extend an approval in principle—
  - (a) on the application of the approval in principle holder; or
  - (b) without an application.
- (2) The Regulatory Authority may extend an approval in principle for a period no longer than 3 years after the date on which the approval in principle would otherwise expire under section 123(1)(a).
- (3) An application for extension must—
  - (a) be in writing; and
  - (b) include the prescribed information; and
  - (c) include payment of the prescribed fee.
- (4) The Regulatory Authority may ask the applicant to provide further information that is reasonably required for the purpose of assessing the application.
- (5) In determining an application for extension, the Regulatory Authority—
  - (a) must consider whether, before the proposed new expiry date—
    - the construction, alteration or repair of the proposed education and care service premises is likely to be completed; and
    - (ii) an application for a service approval is likely to be made; and

- (b) may consider whether—
  - (i) the proposed education and care service premises is, or is being, constructed, altered or repaired in accordance with the approval in principle; and
  - (ii) the approval in principle has previously been extended; and
  - (iii) the approval in principle has previously been reinstated.
- (6) After considering an application for extension, the Regulatory Authority must—
  - (a) decide to extend the approval in principle; or
  - (b) refuse to extend the approval in principle.
- (7) If the Regulatory Authority decides to extend an approval in principle, the Regulatory Authority must—
  - (a) amend the approval in principle to specify the new date on which the approval in principle expires; and
  - (b) provide an amended copy of the approval in principle to the approval in principle holder.
- (8) If the Regulatory Authority decides not to extend an approval in principle, the Regulatory Authority must give the approval in principle holder written notice of its decision and the reasons for the decision within 7 days after the decision is made.

#### 125—Expired approval in principle may be reinstated

- (1) If an approval in principle expires, the former approval in principle holder may apply to the Regulatory Authority for reinstatement of the approval in principle.
- (2) An application for reinstatement must—
  - (a) be in writing; and
  - (b) include the prescribed information; and
  - (c) include payment of the prescribed fee.
- (3) The application for reinstatement must be made no later than 6 months after the date on which the approval in principle expired.
- (4) The Regulatory Authority may ask the applicant to provide further information that is reasonably required for the purpose of assessing the application.
- (5) In determining whether to reinstate an approval in principle, the Regulatory Authority—
  - (a) must consider whether, within the period that the approval in principle is to be reinstated—

- the construction, alteration or repair of the proposed education and care service premises is likely to be completed; and
- (ii) an application for a service approval is likely to be made; and
- (b) may consider whether—
  - (i) the proposed education and care service premises is, or is being, constructed, altered or repaired in accordance with the approval in principle; and
  - (ii) the approval in principle has previously been extended; and
  - (iii) the approval in principle has previously expired and been reinstated.
- (6) The Regulatory Authority must—
  - (a) reinstate an approval in principle; or
  - (b) refuse to reinstate an approval in principle.
- (7) A reinstated approval in principle expires 12 months after the day on which the decision to reinstate the approval in principle is made.
- (8) If the Regulatory Authority reinstates an approval in principle, the Regulatory Authority must give the approval in principle holder a copy of the reinstated approval in principle which specifies the date on which the reinstated approval in principle expires.
- (9) If the Regulatory Authority refuses to reinstate an approval in principle, the Regulatory Authority must give the applicant written notice of its decision and the reasons for the decision within 7 days after the decision is made

#### 11—Amendment of section 190—Reviewable decision—internal review

Section 190—after paragraph (f) insert:

- (fa) to refuse to grant an approval in principle; or
- (fb) to amend or refuse to amend an approval in principle; or
- (fc) to transfer an approval in principle under section 119; or
- (fd) to cancel an approval in principle; or
- (fe) to refuse to extend an approval in principle; or
- (ff) to refuse to reinstate an approval in principle; or

#### 12—Insertion of Part 15 Division 8

Part 15—after Division 7 insert:

## Division 8—Transitional provisions—Early Childhood Legislation Amendment (Premises Approval in Principle) Act 2023

### 340—Transitional provision—approvals in principle—applications for service approval

- (1) This section applies if—
  - (a) a participating jurisdiction declares that section 49A applies to, and in relation to, that jurisdiction; and
  - (b) before, on or after the commencement day, a person makes an application for a service approval in respect of education and care service premises located in a Part 4 building; and
  - (c) before the commencement day, a permit or approval under a Part 4 planning law or Part 4 building law was issued for the premises.
- (2) Despite section 49A(2)—
  - (a) the applicant for the service approval is not required to be an approval in principle holder for the premises; and
  - (b) the Regulatory Authority must not refuse to grant a service approval on the ground that the applicant is not an approval in principle holder for the premises.
- (3) In this Division—

**commencement day**, in relation to a mandatory approval in principle jurisdiction, means the day on which section 49A is declared to come into operation in that jurisdiction.

#### Editorial note—

As required by section 10AA(2) of the *Legislative Instruments Act 1978*, the Minister has certified that, in the Minister's opinion, it is necessary or appropriate that these regulations come into operation as set out in these regulations.

#### Made by the Governor's Deputy

being satisfied that the amendments made by these regulations correspond, or substantially correspond, to amendments made by the Parliament of Victoria to the *Education and Care Services National Law* set out in the Schedule to the *Education and Care Services National Law Act 2010* of Victoria and that such amendments should be made to the *Education and Care Services National Law (South Australia)* and with the advice and consent of the Executive Council

on 20 June 2024

No 53 of 2024